UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION
OFFICE FOR CIVIL RIGHTS, REGION I
5 POST OFFICE SQUARE, 8t FLOOR
BOSTON, MASSACHUSETTS 02109-3921

July 27, 2020

Superintendent Brenda Cassellius
By email: superintendent@bostonpublicschools.org

Re:  Complaint No. 01-20-1117
Boston Public Schools

Dear Superintendent Brenda Cassellius:

This letter is to advise you of the outcome of the complaint that the U.S. Department of
Education (Department), Office for Civil Rights (OCR) received against Boston Public Schools
(District). The Complainant alleges that the District discriminated against her son (Student) on
the basis of disability and perceived national origin/ethnicity, and subjected her to retaliation.
Specifically, the complaint alleges that the District discriminated against her son, based on
disability and his perceived national origin/ethnicity, when District staff opined that he was not
eligible for an Individualized Education Program (IEP) because his disability was “cultural”
(Allegation 1). The Complainant further alleges that a special education team refused to
consider an outside evaluation that she provided from XXXXXXXXX XXX XXX
XXAXXXXXXX during a meeting to evaluate the Student’s eligibility for special education
services (Allegation 2). Finally, the Complainant alleges that the District retaliated against her,
after she filed a complaint with OCR about the above allegations, by XXXXXXXXXXXXXX
),9,9,9,9.9.9,9,9.,9,9,9.9,9,.9.9,9,9.9,9,90.9,9,.9.9,.9.90,9,9.9.9,9.9,9,9.9,9,.9.9,9,9.0,9,9,.0,0,
XXXXXXXXXXXX (Allegation 3). As explained further below, before OCR completed its
investigation, the District expressed a willingness to resolve Allegation 1 by taking the steps set
out in the enclosed Resolution Agreement (Agreement). After carefully considering all of the
information obtained during the investigation, including reviewing documents provided by the
Complainant and the District and interviewing the Complainant, OCR found insufficient
evidence to support Allegations 2 and 3.

OCR enforces Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504), 29 U.S.C. Section
794, and its implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. Part 104, which prohibit discrimination on the
basis of disability in any program or activity receiving federal financial assistance from the
Department. OCR also enforces Title 11 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (Title
I1), 42 U.S.C. Section 12131 et seq., and its implementing regulation at 28 C.F.R. Part 35, which
prohibit discrimination against qualified individuals with disabilities by public entities, including
public education systems and institutions, regardless of whether they receive federal financial
assistance from the Department.

OCR enforces Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Title V1), 42 U.S.C. Section 2000d et
seq., and its implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. Part 100, which prohibit discrimination on the
bases of race, color, or national origin in any program or activity receiving federal financial
assistance from the Department.

The Department of Education’s mission is to promote student achievement and preparation for global competitiveness
by fostering educational excellence and ensuring equal access.

www.ed.gov



Page 2 — OCR Complaint No. 01-20-1117

The laws enforced by OCR prohibit retaliation against any individual who asserts rights or
privileges under these laws or their implementing regulations, or who files a complaint, testifies,
assists, or participates in a proceeding under these laws.

Because the District receives federal financial assistance from the Department and is a public
entity, OCR has jurisdiction over it pursuant to Section 504, Title 1I, and Title VI.

Legal Issues

Because OCR determined that it had jurisdiction and that the complaint was timely filed, OCR
opened the following allegations for investigation:

1. Whether the District discriminated against the Student on the basis of disability and his
perceived national origin/ethnicity, when District staff opined that he was not eligible for
an IEP because his disability was “cultural,” in violation of 34 C.F.R. Section 104.33 and
34 C.F.R. Section 100.3(a).

2. Whether the District failed to consider an outside evaluation provided by the
Complainant when evaluating the Student, i.e., failed to draw upon information from a
variety of sources, and to establish procedures to ensure that information obtained from
all such sources is documented and carefully considered, in violation of 34 C.F.R.
Section 104.35(c)(1)-(3) and 28 C.F.R. Section 35.130

3. Whether the District retaliated against the Complainant for raising concerns that the
District was discriminating against the Student on the basis of disability and national
origin/ethnicity, by XXXXXXXXXXXXXX XXX XX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
XXX XXX XX KK XX XXX XK XX XXX XXX XX XXX XXX X XXX XXXXX, in violation
of 34 C.F.R. Section 104.61 and 28 C.F.R. Section 35.134.

Summary of Preliminary Investigation

During the 2019-2020 school year, the Student was in the XXXXXX grade at
XXXXXXXXXXXX School (School) within the District. From September 2019 to February
2020, the Student had XXXX unexcused absences and XXXX excused tardies.

Team Meeting

The Complainant told OCR that she took the Student to have an outside evaluation in August
2019 after she noticed that he was having issues with XXXXXXXXXXXXX. It is undisputed
that in Fall 2019, the Complainant requested that the District evaluate the Student for special
education services, and she provided the District with a copy of the XXXXXXXXXXXXX
),9,9,9,9,9.9,9,9.9,9,9.9.9,9.9,9,9.9,9.9.9,9,9.0,9,.9.0,9,9.0,9,9.9,9,.9.9,9,9.0,.9,.9.9,0,9.0,9,9.0,0,
(“outside evaluation”).
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Both the Complainant and District provided OCR with information demonstrating that the
District convened a special education team meeting (Team meeting) to discuss the Student’s
eligibility for special education services on XXXXXXXXXXXXXX. The meeting was attended
by the Complainant, Coordinator of Special Education, XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX,
)9,.9,9.9.9.9,0.9.9,9.0.9.9,90,0.9.9,9.0.9.9,0.0.0.8°.9.9,.0.9.9,0.0.9.9,0.0.9.9,.0.0.9.90,0.0.0 @ oF:]
Education Teacher, Teacher, and XXXXXXXXXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
XXXXXXXXX. During the meeting, the Team discussed whether the Student should be placed
on a Section 504 Plan or an IEP.

Prior to the Team meeting, the District conducted several assessments.! The Complainant told
OCR that although she had discussed the outside evaluation with XXXXXXXXXX
XXXXXXXXXXXX prior to the Team meeting, the Team did not discuss or consider the
recommendations from the outside evaluation during this meeting. The Complainant maintains
that there was no real discussion of the outside evaluation. OCR found, however, that in addition
to referring to this evaluation in its determination regarding the IEP, it also used the outside
evaluation as a basis for determining that the Student was eligible for a Section 504 Plan.

The Complainant asserted that during the Team meeting she was told by District staff that the
Student would not be placed on an IEP because his disabilities were “more of a ‘Cultural
bas[sis].”” The Complainant further asserted that she was asked during the meeting about
whether “XXXXXXXXXXXXXXX anyone visited from another Country?”” and “whether her
son has left the country.” The Complainant told OCR that she is XXXXXXXX, and her son is
American.

The Complainant reported concerns about the comments to the School Principal and to the
District’s Office of Student, Family, and Community Advancement when she requested a school
transfer for the Student. The Principal told OCR that she spoke with the District staff member
who led the Team meeting where the comments were allegedly made, but the District staff
member did not know who made the “cultural” comment.

On January 5, 2020, the District sent a letter to the Complainant stating that the Team
recommended that the Student be placed on a Section 504 Plan to address the Student’s needs.
Although the District found that the Student “met the requirement” for a disability, it also
determined that he was ineligible to receive services under an IEP because he was “making
effective progress in the curriculum areas.” In the copy of the Student’s Section 504 Plan,
provided to OCR by the Complainant, the District noted that it identified the Student as having
disabilities, based on the outside evaluation. The Section 504 Plan indicated that: “The student
requires reasonable accommodations, and/or related services, and/or materials in order to
participate in and/or have access to the general curriculum.” The Complainant rejected the
Section 504 Plan.

! The assessments included XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX XXX XXX XXX XXXX XX XXX XXX XXX
1:9,9.9,0,9.9,0,9.9,9,9.9,9,0.9,9,9.9,9,9.9,9,0,0.¢
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0:9,9.9.9.9,9,9,9,9,9.9.9.9.9,9,9,9,9.0.0.9.9,9,9,9,9.9.0.9.9,9,9,9,0.¢

The Complainant asserted that School staff retaliated against her for engaging in disability-based
advocacy on behalf of her children by XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX. It is
undisputed that on XXXXXXXXXXXXXX the Complainant told the Principal that she filed an
OCR complaint alleging discrimination, and that two days later, XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
),:9,.9,9.9.9.9,9.9.9,9,.0.9.9,90.0.9.9,9.9.9:9,0.9.9,.9,0.9.9,9,.0.9.9,9.0.9.9,0.0.9,.9,9.0.9.9.0.9.9,90,0.9.9,0,0.4

The Principal asserted to OCR that she was XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX? was overheard
by staff. The District provided documentation showing that although XXXXXXXXXXXXXX
):9,.9,9,9.9.9,9.9.9,9.0.9.9,90.0.9.9,9.0.9:9,0.9.9,9,0.9.9,9.0.9.9,90.0.9.9,0.9.9,9,.9.9.9,.90.0.9.9,0,.0.9.9,0.0.4
):9.9,9.0.9.9,9.9.9,9,.90.9.9.9.9.9.9,9.9.9.9,0.0.9.9,0.9.9.9,.0.90.9.9,.9.9.9,90.0.9.9,9.0.9.9,.9.9.9.9,0.0.9,0,.0.4
The District shared that it took XXXXX XXX XXX XXX XX XXX X XXX XXX XX XXX XXX XX
):9.9,9.9.9.9,9.9.9,9.9.9.9,9.0.9.9,0.9.9.9,.0.9.9,9,0.9.9,90,.9.9.9,0.¢

The Principal informed OCR that District staff members are XXXXXXXXX XXX XXX XXX
),:9,.9,9,9.9.9,9.9.9,9.9.9.9,90.0.9.9,9.9.9.9,0.9.9,.9,0.9.9,9,.0,9.9,90.90.9.9,0.9.9,9,.9.9.9,90.0.9.9,0,.0.9.90,0.0.4
XXX X XXX X XXX XXX XX XXX XXX The Superintendent further informed OCR that the
District’s “policy is that all adults working in schools XXX XXXXXXXXX XXX XXX XX XXX
):9,.9,9.9.9.9,.9.9.9,.9.9.9.9,9.90.9.9,9.9.9.9,90.9.9,90.90.9.9.9,0.9.9,.90.9.9.9,.9.0.9,.90.9.9.9,.9.9.9.9,0.0.9.0,.0.4
XXXXXXXXXXXX The Principal informed OCR that faculty and staff receive training every
year on how XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX Specifically, the Principal sends out the

XXX XXX XX KX XX XXX XXX XX XXXXX to staff that sets forth the District’s
XXX XXX XXXXX policy, and the Principal conducts training for staff. The Superintendent
reported to OCR that principals are required to review XXXXXXXXXXX with their employees.

XXX X XXX XXX XX states that teachers and educational administrators XXXXXXX XXX XXX
2,9,9,9,9,9.9,9,9.9,9,9.9,9,9.,9,9,9.9,9.9.9.9,9.9,9,9,9,9,.9.9,.9,.9.9.9.9.9,.9,.9.9,9.9.9,.9,.9.9,9,90.9,9,90.9,0.0,¢
XXAXXXXXXXXXX further states that “when these professionals are employed at a school, they
(IS E 9.9,.9,.9,.9,9,9.9,9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.90.90.9.0,.90.0,0.9,.9,9.9,0,0,0,4
XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX outlines procedures for XXXXXX XX XXX XX XXX
1,9,9,9,9.9.9,9.9,9,9,9.9,9,9.9,9,9.9,.9,.9.9.9.9.9,9.9,9,9.9.9,.9.9.9,9,9,9,9,.9.9,.9,9.9,9,9.9,.9,.9.9,9,.0.0,.¢

Legal Standard

The Section 504 regulation, at 34 C.F.R. Section 104.33, requires school districts to provide a
free appropriate public education (FAPE) to each qualified student with a disability in its
jurisdiction. An appropriate education is regular or special education and related aids and
services that are designed to meet the individual educational needs of students with disabilities as
adequately as the needs of students without disabilities are met and that are developed in
compliance with Section 504’s procedural requirements. OCR interprets the Title Il regulation,
at 28 C.F.R. Sections 35.103(a) and 35.130(b)(1)(ii) and (iii), to require school districts to
provide a FAPE to the same extent required under the Section 504 regulation.

2 The District shared with OCR XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
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In interpreting evaluation data and making placement decisions, the Section 504 regulation, at 34
C.F.R. Section 104.35(c), requires that a school district draw upon information from a variety of
sources, including aptitude and achievement tests, teacher recommendations, physical condition,
social or cultural background, and adaptive behavior; establish procedures to ensure that
information obtained from all such sources is documented and carefully considered; ensure that
the placement decision is made by a group of persons, including persons knowledgeable about
the student, the meaning of the evaluation data, and the placement options; and ensure that each
student with a disability is educated with peers without disabilities to the maximum extent
appropriate to the needs of the student with a disability.

If the evaluative team determines that a student has an impairment that substantially limits a
major life activity, the team next decides which regular or special education and related aids and
services are needed to meet the student’s individual educational needs as adequately as the needs
of students without disabilities are met.

The Title VI regulation, at 34 C.F.R. Section 100.3(a), provides that no person shall be excluded
from participation in, denied the benefits of, or otherwise subjected to discrimination under the
District’s programs or activities on the basis of race, color, or national origin.

When investigating an allegation of different treatment based on national origin, OCR first
determines whether there is sufficient evidence to establish an initial, or prima facie, case of
discrimination. Specifically, OCR determines whether the District treated the
Complainant/Student less favorably than similarly situated individuals of a different national
origin. If so, OCR then determines whether the District had a legitimate, nondiscriminatory
reason for the different treatment. Finally, OCR determines whether the reason given by the
District is a pretext, or excuse, for unlawful discrimination.

The Title VI regulation, at 34 C.F.R. Section 100.7(e), prohibits retaliation against any individual
who asserts rights or privileges under Title VI or who files a complaint, testifies, assists, or
participates in a proceeding under Title VI. The Section 504 regulation also prohibits retaliation
against any individual who asserts rights or privileges under Section 504 or who files a
complaint, testifies, assists, or participates in a proceeding under Section 504, by incorporating
the retaliation provisions of the Title VI implementing regulation. Finally, The Title I
regulation, at 28 C.F.R. Section 35.134, contains a similar prohibition against retaliation.

In analyzing an allegation of retaliation, OCR examines whether: (1) the recipient knew the
individual engaged in a protected activity;® (2) the individual experienced an adverse action
caused by the recipient;* and (3) there is some evidence of a causal connection between the
adverse action and the protected activity. If all these elements are present, this establishes an
initial, or prima facie, case of retaliation. OCR then determines whether the recipient has
identified a legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for taking the adverse action. OCR next examines
this reason to determine whether it is a pretext for retaliation. If OCR finds that the reason was
pretextual, then OCR will make a finding of retaliation; conversely, if OCR finds that the

3 A “protected activity” is the exercise of a right that is protected under OCR’s non-discrimination laws.
4 An adverse action is something that could deter a reasonable person from engaging in further protected activity.
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recipient proffered a legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for the action at issue and that the reason
was not pretextual, then OCR will find insufficient evidence of a violation.

Analysis
Allegation 1

OCR determined that the evidence obtained to date suggests that a District staff member may
have opined that the Student was not eligible for an IEP because his disability was “cultural.”
The Complainant asserted that District staff informed her during the Team meeting the Student’s
disability was “cultural,” and that she was asked during the meeting about “who has visited her
home” and “whether her son has left the country.” While the Principal informed OCR that she
spoke with the individual who led the Team meeting in which the “cultural” comment was
allegedly made, the District did not provide any additional evidence regarding the comment.
Accordingly, the District has not provided evidence to refute the Complainant’s account
regarding the alleged comment, nor has it provided evidence establishing the specific wording of
the comment or the context in which it occurred.

Based on the above, the evidence obtained to date suggests that the District may have determined
that the Student was ineligible for an IEP due to “cultural” factors without having identified the
specific factors, and whether and how they impacted the Student’s progress and achievement
apart from any disabilities. OCR determined that this raises preliminary concerns regarding
whether the District appropriately evaluated the Student with respect to his disabilities, and
whether its decision was related to the Student’s national origin. Accordingly, OCR determined
that the evidence obtained to date raises a preliminary concern that the District may have
discriminated against the Student on the basis of disability and national origin.

OCR is also concerned that the materials used by the District in evaluating and placing students
with disabilities may not accurately state the requirements set forth in the regulations
implementing Section 504. Specifically, the District’s template used to create Section 504 plans
references “reasonable accommodations, and/or related services, and/or materials in order to
participate in and/or have access to the general curriculum.” OCR determined that the evidence
obtained to date raises concerns in that the references to “reasonable accommodations” and
“participat[ing] in and/or hav[ing] access to the general curriculum” are not consistent with the
requirements of Section 504 with respect to FAPE. Specifically, Section 504 states that districts
must provide eligible students with regular or special education and related aids and services that
are designed to meet the individual educational needs of persons with disabilities as adequately
as the needs of persons without disabilities are met. Accordingly, OCR determined that the
evidence to date raises preliminary concerns about the template for Section 504 plans used by the
District and its practices with respect to this document (and any other similar materials).

Prior to the conclusion of OCR’s investigation and pursuant to Section 302 of OCR’s Case
Processing Manual, the District expressed an interest in resolving Allegation 1 and OCR
determined that a voluntary resolution is appropriate. Subsequent discussions between OCR and
the District resulted in the District signing the enclosed Agreement which, when fully
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implemented, will address all of the allegations raised in the complaint. OCR will monitor the
District’s implementation of the Agreement.

Allegation 2

OCR determined that there is insufficient evidence to support Allegation 2. The Complainant
asserted that she discussed the outside evaluation with the XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX prior
to the Team meeting, but the District did not consider the recommendations from the outside
evaluation, and there was no real discussion of the outside evaluation. However, the evidence
indicated that the Team considered the outside evaluation, as it was referenced in the Section 504
Plan that was provided to and rejected by the Complainant. Further, the evidence indicated that
the District drew upon information from a variety sources, including the outside evaluation,
during the Team meeting. OCR did not find, nor did the Complainant provide, any evidence
indicating that the District failed to follow appropriate procedures under Section 504 in
considering the outside evaluation and reaching its determination.> Based on the above, OCR
finds insufficient evidence to substantiate Allegation 2 and will take no further action on it.

Allegation 3

OCR determined that there is insufficient evidence to support Allegation 3. The evidence
indicated that the District was aware of the Complainant’s protected activity, as the Complainant
informed the District that she had filed a complaint with OCR alleging discrimination. In
addition, OCR notes that the Complainant raised issues of disability and national origin
discrimination to the Principal in January 2020, before XXXXXXXXXXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
XXX. Further, OCR determined that the Complainant was subjected to an adverse action caused
by the District when, XXXXXXXXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XX XXX XXX XX
),.9,.9,9,9.9,.9,9,9.9,9.90.9.9,90.0.9.9,9.9.9.9,0.0.9,

Presuming that a causal connection existed between the Complainant’s protected activity and the
adverse action, OCR determined that the evidence indicated that the District proffered a
legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for XXXXXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XX XXX XXX
2,9,9,9,9,9.9,9,9.9,9,.9.9,9,9.9,9,9.9,9.9.9.9,9.9,9,9.9,9,9.9,.9,.9.9.9,.9.9,.9,.9.9,9,.9.9,.9,9.9,9,90.9,9,90.9,0,0.¢
)9,9.9,.9.9.9,9.9,.9.9.9,0.9.9.9.9,0.9.9.0.9,0.9.9.9.9,90.9,9.9.9,.0.9.9.0.9,0.9.0.0.9,0.9.9.0.9,0.9,9.0.9,0.0
2,9,9,9,9,9.9,9,9.9,9,9.9,9,.9.9,9,9.9,9.9.9.9,9.9,9,9,9,9,.9.9,9,.9.9.9,.9.9,.9,.9.9,9,.9.9,.9,.9.9,9,90.9,9,90.9,0,0.¢
)9,9.9,.9.9.9,90.9.9.9.9,0.9.9.9.9,0.9.9.0.9,0.9.9.9.9,90.9,9.9.9,.0.9.9.0.9,0.9.90.0.9,0.9.9.9.9,0.9,9.0.9,0.9,
XAXXXAKXXKXXXXX

Based on the above, OCR found that the District articulated a legitimate, non-retaliatory reason
for XXXXXX XXX XX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXXXXXXXXXXX Further,
OCR found insufficient evidence that the reason was pretext for retaliation, where the District
19,.9.9.9.90.9,90.9,90.9,9.9,0.9,.0.9.9.9.9.9.9.9.9,9.9,0.9,0.9,0.9,.0.9,0.9.0.9.9,.9.9.9.9,0.9,0.9,0.9,0.9.0.9.0 ¢

>OCR generally does not review or second-guess individual evaluation, placement, and other educational decisions
as long as the District follows the procedures required by Section 504. Disagreements over a student’s evaluation,
services, placement, or educational program are more appropriately addressed through an impartial hearing, such as
a due process hearing.
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XXX XX XX XXX XXXX XXX XXX Accordingly, OCR finds insufficient evidence to
substantiate Allegation 3 and will take no further action on it.

This concludes OCR’s investigation of the complaint. This letter should not be interpreted to
address the District’s compliance with any other regulatory provision or to address any issues
other than those addressed in this letter. This letter sets forth OCR’s determination in an
individual OCR case. This letter is not a formal statement of OCR policy and should not be
relied upon, cited, or construed as such. OCR’s formal policy statements are approved by a duly
authorized OCR official and made available to the public. The Complainant may have the right
to file a private suit in federal court whether or not OCR finds a violation. The complainant has
a right to appeal OCR’s determination as to Allegations 2 and 3 within 60 calendar days of the
date indicated on this letter. In the appeal, the complainant must explain why the factual
information was incomplete or incorrect, the legal analysis was incorrect or the appropriate legal
standard was not applied, and how correction of any error(s) would change the outcome of the
case; failure to do so may result in dismissal of the appeal. If the complainant appeals OCR’s
determination, OCR will forward a copy of the appeal form or written statement to the recipient.
The recipient has the option to submit to OCR a response to the appeal. The recipient must
submit any response within 14 calendar days of the date that OCR forwarded a copy of the
appeal to the recipient.

Please be advised that the District may not harass, coerce, intimidate, discriminate, or otherwise
retaliate against an individual because that individual asserts a right or privilege under a law
enforced by OCR or files a complaint, testifies, assists, or participates in a proceeding under a
law enforced by OCR. If this happens, the individual may file a retaliation complaint with OCR.

Under the Freedom of Information Act, it may be necessary to release this document and related
correspondence and records upon request. 1f OCR receives such a request, we will seek to
protect personally identifiable information that could reasonably be expected to constitute an
unwarranted invasion of personal privacy if released, to the extent provided by law.

Sincerely,

Is/
Meighan A.F. McCrea
Compliance Team Leader

Enclosure

cc: Dara Yaffe, Esq.
Michael Leung-Tat, Esq.





